
 
 
 

 
 

Special 
Board Meeting 

 

Board Room 
 

December 9, 2024 



Fruitport Community Schools
SPECIAL BOARDMEETING

Monday, December 9, 2024 – 6:00 p.m.

Location:
Fruitport High School
Media Center
357 N. 6th Ave.
Fruitport, MI 49415

AGENDA

I. CALL to ORDER

II. ROLL CALL

III. APPROVAL OF AGENDA

IV. REMARKS FROM THE PUBLIC*

V. GENERAL BOARD BUSINESS
A. Special Meeting Minutes - November 18, 2024
B. Regular Meeting Minutes - November 18, 2024
C. Community Forum Worksession to Discuss Potential May 2025 Ballot Proposition

1. Master Facilities Plan Updates and Needs Assessment
2. Timeline, Funding Source(s), and Duration
3. Prioritization of Infrastructure and Programming Needs
4. Community Survey Results: Feedback to Develop Project Scope
5. Next Steps

D. Other

VI. ADJOURNMENT

*Time is provided for members of the audience to address the Board of Education regarding any
topic including items on the agenda. The board is providing one opportunity for the public to
comment during the meeting. Members of the audience may wish to bring issues to the Board of
Education for board consideration. Time limits may be placed if a large number of individuals would
like to address the board.



 AGENDA SECTION: General Board Business      
 
 BOARD ACTION REQUEST FORM 
 
Meeting Date:  December 9, 2024 

 
To: Board of Education 
    
From: Jason Kennedy 
 

 
Subject to be Discussed and Policy Reference: 

• Special Meeting Minutes – November 18, 2024 
 

 
 

 
Background Information:   
See attached 
 

  
 

 
Financial Impact:   
 

 
 

 
Recommended Action:   
Approval of the special board meeting minutes from November 18, 2024, as presented. 
 

 
 

 
Action Taken: 
 
Vote:   ___ Buckner        ___Burgess     ___ Cole     ___ Franklin            ___ Hazekamp 
 
 ___ Kelly ___ Meeuwenberg 
 
 

 



Fruitport Community Schools
SPECIAL BOARD MEETING

Monday, November 18, 2024 – 6:00 p.m.

Location:
Fruitport High School
Media Center
357 N. 6th Ave.
Fruitport, MI 49415

MINUTES

I. CALL to ORDER

The Special Meeting of the Board of Education was called to order at 6:00 p.m. by Board 
President, Dave Hazekamp.

II. ROLL CALL

Present – Elroy Buckner, Tim Burgess, Kris Cole, Susan Franklin, Dave Hazekamp,  JB 
Meeuwenberg. Absent: Steve Kelly

Steve Kelly arrived at the meeting at 6:15 p.m. after roll call had been taken.

III. APPROVAL OF AGENDA

Item 24-169. MOTION by Buckner, SECOND by Franklin to approve the agenda, as 
presented.

MOTION CARRIED: 6-0; 1 absent

IV. REMARKS FROM THE PUBLIC: None

V. GENERAL BOARD BUSINESS



1. Regular Meeting Minutes - October 21, 2024

Item 24-170. MOTION by Buckner, SECOND by Franklin to approve the Regular 
Meeting Minutes from October 21, 2024, as presented.

MOTION CARRIED: 6-0; 1 absent.

2. Community Forum Worksession to Discuss Potential May 2025 Ballot Proposition: 
No Action Taken

The Board discussed placing a ballot proposition on the May 2025 ballot for voter 
consideration. The Board discussed updates to the Master Facilities Plan and reviewed 
updates to the needs assessment, as well as cost estimates that were provided by members 
of the Owen-Ames-Kimball Company Team. The Board discussed seeking a 
non-qualified bond project, as the District’s improved credit rating allows the District to 
save taxpayers tens of millions of dollars over the life of the zero mill increase bond, 
should it be approved by voters.

Prioritization of infrastructure and programming needs were also discussed, along with 
allowing for feedback to be provided from the stakeholders that were in attendance. 
Sixteen (16) school stakeholders attended the community forum. A community survey is 
now completed and will be released at the conclusion of the community forum to seek 
additional feedback. The construction of a new Edgewood Elementary School, early 
childhood programs, and other infrastructure and transportation needs based upon the 
needs assessment that was conducted by O-A-K and Tower Pinkster were discussed. 
Tower Pinkster was also present to discuss preliminary site design and conceptual images 
of a new elementary school.

The next community forum will be held on December 9, 2024 at 6:00 p.m. in the high 
school media center. The results of the community survey will be shared with the Board 
of Education at that time.

VI. ADJOURNMENT

Item 24-171. MOTION by Buckner, SECOND by Franklin to adjourn.

MOTION CARRIED: 6-0; 1 absent.

The meeting adjourned at 7:01 p.m.



Respectfully submitted,

Susan Franklin, Board Secretary

Jason Kennedy, Acting Recording Board Secretary



 AGENDA SECTION: General Board Business      
 
 BOARD ACTION REQUEST FORM 
 
Meeting Date:  December 9, 2024 

 
To: Board of Education 
    
From: Jason Kennedy 
 

 
Subject to be Discussed and Policy Reference: 

• Regular Meeting Minutes – November 18, 2024 
 

 
 

 
Background Information:   
See attached 
 

  
 

 
Financial Impact:   
 

 
 

 
Recommended Action:   
Approval of the regular board meeting minutes from November 18, 2024, as presented. 
 

 
 

 
Action Taken: 
 
Vote:   ___ Buckner        ___Burgess     ___ Cole     ___ Franklin            ___ Hazekamp 
 
 ___ Kelly ___ Meeuwenberg 
 
 

 



Fruitport Community Schools
REGULAR BOARDMEETING MINUTES

Monday, November 18, 2024 – 7:00 p.m.

Meeting Location:
Fruitport High School
Media Center
357 N. 6th Ave.
Fruitport, MI 49415

I. CALL TO ORDER: The Regular meeting of the Board of Education was called to order
at 7:02 p.m. by Board President, Dave Hazekamp.

II. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE: The Pledge of Allegiance was recited by those in
attendance at the meeting.

III. ROLL CALL: Present – Elroy Buckner, Tim Burgess, Kris Cole, Susan Franklin, Dave
Hazekamp, Steve Kelly, JB Meeuwenberg.

IV. APPROVAL OF AGENDA

Item 24-172. MOTION by Franklin, SECOND by Buckner to approve the agenda, as
presented.

MOTION CARRIED: 7-0.

V. PRESENTATIONS: None

VI. COMMUNICATIONS:

○ West Michigan Conference Official Communication: The District received
communication from Ken Byard, League President for the West Michigan
Conference (WMC). The communication stated that the Executive Committee of
the WMC did not reach the required two-thirds (⅔) majority vote needed to
pursue expansion. As such, our application to the WMC was denied at this time.

○ Office for Civil Rights Communication - Website Accessibility: The District
received communication from Laura Favazza, Attorney for the Office for Civil



Rights. The communication approved the District’s chosen website accessibility
standard: WCAG 2.1, Level AA, it approved the content of the District’s Website
Accessibility Notice, and it approved the District’s protocol and timeframe for
responding to reports of accessibility barriers on the District’s website.

VII. SUPERINTENDENT/ADMINISTRATIVE REPORTS:

○ Reminder - Muskegon County School Board Alliance (MCSBA) Fall Dinner
Meeting: A reminder was provided to Board of Education members attending the
MCSBA Fall Dinner Meeting. The dinner meeting is scheduled for November 20,
2024 from 5:30 p.m. to 8:30 p.m. at the MAISD Career Tech Center.

○ Military Wall of Honor and Interactive Display: With the Board meeting
taking place at the high school, the Board was encouraged to stop by and check
out the Military Wall of Honor that was recently dedicated on Veterans Day,
November 11, 2024. The Wall of Honor and digital touch screen display serves as
an everyday reminder of the service, dedication, and commitment that veterans of
the United States Armed Forces, who were also graduates of Fruitport, have
provided to our Country. The Board also reviewed a Grand Haven Tribune article
that was written by Lauren Formosa highlighting the dedication of the Wall of
Honor on Veterans Day, November 11, 2024.

○ US News and World Report - Best Elementary Schools in America: Beach
Elementary and Shettler Elementary were once again honored by US News and
World Report for being recognized on the list of Best Elementary Schools in
America. These two schools were also the two highest ranked elementary schools
in all of Muskegon County on that list.

VIII. REMARKS FROM THE PUBLIC: None

IX. CONSENT AGENDA

Item 24-173. MOTION by Cole, SECOND by Buckner to approve the Consent Agenda
as listed below:

1. Approval of Bill Listing in the amount of $594,277.51
2. Acceptance of Monthly Financial, Bond, and Capital Projects Report
3. Acceptance of Student Activity Summary Report
4. Acceptance of Credit Card and Utilities Report
5. Approval of Transfers and ACH Transactions Report
6. Approval of Personnel Report (includes confirmation of new hires, resignations,

retirees, and transfers)



MOTION CARRIED: 7-0.

X. GENERAL BOARD BUSINESS:

1. Insulin Mass Action Litigation Discussion: It was determined that the Board would not
pursue participation in the Insulin Mass Action Lawsuit, as discussed. As such, no action
item would be added to the agenda to consider the adoption of a resolution to participate
in the mass action lawsuit.

XI. BUSINESS AND FINANCE COMMITTEE REPORTS & RECOMMENDATIONS

● Report of committee meeting held on November 8, 2024

Elroy Buckner reported on a Business and Finance Committee meeting held on
November 8, 2024 at 12:00 p.m. Elroy Buckner, Kris Cole, Dave Hazekamp, Jason
Kennedy, Mark Mesbergen, and Jessica Wiseman were present. The Committee
discussed a request for a proposal to purchase at least one bus to replace one of our older
buses from the 2021 Capital Projects Fund. The Committee also discussed the purchase
of a bi-directional amplification system to support improved public safety radio
communication while in the building. The Committee also discussed an update on the
potential May 2025 Bond Proposition, and reviewed a rough draft of a conceptual design
of a new Edgewood Elementary school that was designed by Tower-Pinkster. The
meeting was adjourned at 12:43 p.m.

1. School Bus Purchase / Request for Proposal

Item 24-174. MOTION by Buckner, SECOND by Cole to approve the bid from Midwest
Transit Equipment in the amount of $85,755, with funds coming out of the 2021 Capital
Projects Fund, to purchase one regular education bus, including the 5- year engine
warranty, as discussed., as presented.

MOTION CARRIED: 7-0.

2. Public Safety Critical Point Dual Band Bi-Directional Amplifier

Item 24-175. MOTION by Buckner, SECOND by Cole to approve the purchase of a
public safety critical point dual band bi-directional amplifier from Crouch
Communications, using the Motorola Solutions MI-Deal Contract, in the amount of
$46,272.14, as discussed.

MOTION CARRIED: 7-0.



XII. PERSONNEL COMMITTEE REPORTS & RECOMMENDATIONS:

● Report of committee meeting held on November 11, 2024

Steve Kelly reported on a Personnel Committee meeting held on November 11, 2024 at
5:00 p.m. Dave Hazekamp, Steve Kelly, JB Meeuwenberg, and Jason Kennedy were
present. The Committee discussed the Personnel Report for November 2024, which
included each of the recommendations for new hires, resignations, retirement notices,
transfers, and positions that are still posted and vacant in the District. The Committee also
discussed an update on a staff member discipline issue, and it also discussed a Letter of
Agreement (LOA) between the District and the Fruitport Education Association (FEA)
pertaining to health insurance and health savings accounts for employees. The Committee
also discussed an update on the potential May 2025 Bond Proposition, and reviewed a
rough draft of a conceptual design of a new Edgewood Elementary school that was
designed by Tower-Pinkster. The meeting was adjourned at 5:32 p.m.

1. Letter of Agreement: FEA - Health Insurance / Health Savings Accounts

Item 24-176. MOTION by Kelly, SECOND by Meeuwenberg to approve the Letter of
Agreement between the Fruitport Education Association (FEA) and the Board of
Education, as discussed.

MOTION CARRIED: 7-0.

XIII. STUDENT AFFAIRS COMMITTEE REPORTS & RECOMMENDATIONS

● Report of committee meeting held on November 11, 2024

Susan Franklin reported on a Student Affairs Committee meeting held on October 14,
2024 at 5:30 p.m. Tim Burgess, Dave Hazekamp, Susan Franklin, and Jason Kennedy
were present. The Committee discussed an overnight field trip request from Deeann
Skov, high school teacher and MYIG advisor, for students to travel to East
Lansing/Lansing on February 20-23, 2025. They will participate in a mock legislative
session at the State Capitol. The Committee also discussed an update to the complaint
that was filed against the District alleging that the playground at Beach was not ADA
compliant. The Committee discussed an opportunity to participate in a mass action
lawsuit against insulin manufacturers and other defendants.The Committee also discussed
an update on the potential May 2025 Bond Proposition, and reviewed a rough draft of a
conceptual design of a new Edgewood Elementary school that was designed by
Tower-Pinkster. The meeting was adjourned at 6:08 p.m.

1. Overnight Field Trip Request: Michigan Youth in Government (MYIG)



Item 24-177. MOTION by Franklin, SECOND by Burgess to approve the overnight trip
request from Deeann Skov for high school students to stay overnight in Lansing, MI on
February 20-23, 2025 to participate in a mock legislature at the State Capital, as
discussed.

MOTION CARRIED: 7-0.

2. Overnight Field Trip Request: Trojan Travelers - Paris, Barcelona, and Madrid

Item 24-178. MOTION by Franklin, SECOND by Burgess to approve the overnight trip
request from Tammy Ruch and the Trojan Travelers for students to participate in a ten
(10) day trip to Paris, Barcelona, and Madrid on June 15-24, 2026, as discussed.

MOTION CARRIED: 7-0.

XIV. BOARD MEMBER REPORTS AND DISCUSSIONS:

Kris Cole shared that the Fruitport First Tech Challenge Qualifier will take place on
November 22-23, 2024 at Fruitport High School. Kris also shared that the robotics
program will be hosting the state championship tournament on December 13-14, 2024 at
Trinity Health Arena. Dave Hazekamp expressed appreciation to the Military Wall of
Honor Steering Committee for all of their hard work in putting together a great breakfast,
Veterans Day Service, and unveiling ceremony for the new Military Wall of Honor. Dave
shared that it is important for the school to remember those who have fought for the
freedoms that we enjoy today. Dave also shared that the 5th Quarter Party of the Fruitport
Education Foundation went extremely well, it was well attended, and it appeared that
everyone had a great time again at the event. Dave also wished the volleyball team good
luck in their MHSAA tournament game on Tuesday, November 19, 2024.

XV. AGENDA ITEMS for FUTURE MEETINGS & SCHEDULING OF ANY
SPECIAL MEETINGS

1. The Business and Finance Committee will meet on December 3, 2024 at 6:00 p.m.
2. The Personnel Committee will meet on December 2, 2024 at 5:00 p.m.
3. The Student Affairs Committee will meet on December 2, 2024 at 5:30 p.m.
4. The Board of Education will meet on December 9, 2024 at 6:00 p.m. for a special

meeting to hold a community forum to discuss the potential May 2025 bond proposition.
5. The Board of Education will meet on December 9, 2024 at 7:00 p.m. for the regular

meeting.

XVI. REMARKS FROM THE PUBLIC:



● Lauren Chesney, high school principal, shared a copy of the English Department
Handbook that was developed by the English Department. She shared the hard
work of the staff with the Board of Education, and expressed her appreciation for
the release time that was provided to staff to complete the handbook.

XVII. ADJOURNMENT

Item 24-179. MOTION by Buckner, SECOND by Franklin to adjourn.

MOTION CARRIED: 7-0.

The meeting adjourned at 7:29 p.m.

Respectfully submitted,

Susan Franklin, Board Secretary

Danielle VanderMeulen, Recording Secretary



Potential May 2025 Bond Proposition

Board of Education Special Meeting: Community Forum #1
Monday, December 9, 2024

6:00 p.m.

Members of the Bond Team:
Architect: TowerPinkster

Construction Manager: Owen-Ames-Kimball Co.
Financial Advisor: PFM Financial Advisors, LLC.

Legal Counsel: Thrun Law Firm, P.C.



Facilities Master Plan, Needs Assessment, and Board of 
Education Bond Program Priorities



Master Facilities Plan Updates and Needs Assessment

● Website Link: Master Facilities Plan (May 4, 2021)

https://www.fruitportschools.net/bondinformation/fcs-facilities-master-plan/


Master Facilities Plan Updated Needs Assessment
New Edgewood Elementary Concept $50,000,000

Existing Building Renovations Cost up to estimate: Basic needs cost estimate:

Beach Elementary $11,397,453 $1,089,087

Edgewood Elementary (ECC) $13,499,521 —

Shettler Elementary $3,569,645 $3,280,286

Fruitport Middle School $9,560,305 $2,581,859

Fruitport High School $422,494 —

Operations / Transportation $139,728 $139,728

Administration Building $457,085 $457,085

Totals $39,046,231 $7,548,045



1. New Edgewood Elementary School
2. Expansion and growth; Additional classroom space; Early 

Childhood programming
3. Operations and maintenance projects; Based upon need
4. Transportation - Replacement of buses in the fleet
5. Review athletic and extracurricular projects; Based upon need

Board Prioritization of Needs
Special Board Meeting held on October 8, 2024; Priorities of the Board of 
Education, at the time, included:



Pre-Election Summary of School Building 
and Site Bonding Proposal 





Proposed May 2025 Bond - Millage Analysis



How do we compare to Muskegon County schools and 
neighboring comparable schools?







Potential Bond Program Summary
and Basic Needs



Potential 2025 Bond Program Summary
New Edgewood Elementary Concept

Building Site New Construction Estimate

New Edgewood Elementary School $50,000,000

Subtotal $50,000,000



Potential 2025 Bond Program Summary
New Early Childhood Center Concept

Blue Option

New Construction Edgewood Early Childhood Concept $9,000,000

New Construction Beach Early Childhood Concept $9,000,000

Subtotal $18,000,000

White Option

Renovation of Edgewood Elementary into an Early 
Childhood Center $13,499,521

Subtotal $13,499,521



Potential 2025 Bond Program Summary - Basic Needs

Building Site Needs Assessment 
Renovation Estimates

Basic Needs 
Estimates

Beach $11,397,453 $1,089,087

Edgewood $13,499,521 —

Shettler $3,569,645 $3,280,286

Middle School $9,560,305 $2,581,859

High School $422,494 —

Ops / Transport / Admin $596,813 $596,813

Subtotal $39,046,231 $7,548,045



Beach Elementary School

Tier I Basic Needs

Furniture $622,906

Install barrier free play routes $25,000

Gym air handler units $147,530

Select section 7 roof replacement $68,651

Fire alarm system $225,000

Subtotal $1,089,087

Tier II Needs for Consideration

Gym / Cafeteria Separation 
(Addition) $2,458,839

Kitchen Addition $496,071



Shettler Elementary School

Tier I Basic Needs

Playground equipment and ADA accessibility $250,000

Classroom furniture $590,130

Exterior doors and windows replacement $772,133

Select section 1, 2, and 6 replacement $885,830

Flooring replacement $461,516

Gymnasium HVAC units $147,530

Fire alarm system $173,147

Subtotal $3,280,286



Fruitport Middle School

Tier I Basic Needs

Gym scoreboard and bleachers $135,236

Furniture replacement (20%) $314,731

Flooring replacement (20%) $75,000

Windows and exterior doors $442,334

HVAC - Air handling units, pumps, fans $871,658

Fire alarm system $742,900

Subtotal $2,581,859



Fruitport Transportation and Operations Center / 
Administration Offices

Tier I Basic Needs

Roofing at Transportation/Operations $139,728

Administration Building $457,085

Transportation fleet replacement $1,250,000

Subtotal $1,846,813



Proposed May 2025 Bond Program Summary

New Edgewood Elementary Building $50,000,000

New Construction Early Childhood Center Spaces $18,000,000

Operations and Maintenance Basic Needs Projects $7,548,045

Replacement of Vehicles in Transportation Fleet $1,250,000

Remaining Balance:
● Athletics / Extracurricular Activities Program $5,201,955

Total Project Cost $82,000,000



Proposed Conceptual Design Development 
Rough Draft Images and Renderings



Edgewood Elementary

Level One Block Diagram Level Two Block Diagram



Edgewood Elementary

Site Plan



Edgewood Elementary

Site Plan



Edgewood Elementary

Site Plan



Edgewood Elementary

Site Plan



Edgewood Elementary

Site Plan



Beach Elementary

Site Plan



Timeline to a Proposed May 2025 Bond
1. Prioritize and refine needs: October-December 2024

• Community Input 1: November 11, 2024
• Community Input 2: December 9, 2024
• Staff and Community Survey: Closes December 9, 2024

2. Finalize Program / Board Calls Election: January 20, 2025
3. File Resolution with County Clerk: No later than February 11, 2025
4. Information Campaign: January 2025 – May 2025
5. Staff Input and Site Visits: Ongoing
6. Election: Tuesday, May 6, 2025 



1. New Edgewood Elementary School
2. Expansion and growth; Additional classroom space; Early 

Childhood programming
3. Operations and maintenance projects; Based upon need
4. Transportation - Replacement of buses in the fleet
5. Review athletic and extracurricular projects; Based upon need

Board Prioritization of Needs
Special Board Meeting held on October 8, 2024; Priorities of the Board of 
Education, at the time, included:



Community Forum Feedback and Input



1. Review Community Survey Data
a. Released on November 18, 2024
b. Closes at 12:00 p.m. on December 9, 2024.

2. Review Feedback from Administrative Team

3. Small Group Discussions: Turn, Talk, and Report Out Activity
a. Link: Feedback Form

Community Feedback and Input

https://docs.google.com/presentation/d/1c2C7kudmVnCU4tmKoBMDpEJSK7EP6nDo6XgKmaNfH7g/edit?usp=sharing


Review of Community Survey Data

November - December 2024



Community Survey Data:

This slide will be populated with data from the community survey 
once it closes on December 9, 2024 at 12:00 p.m.



Administrative Team Feedback and 
Input

Administrative Team Meeting: November 19, 2024



What proposed projects from the presentation do you support as a part 
of a proposed zero (0) mill increase bond proposition?

Early childhood programs Zen Den room, seclusion room Asking for input from staff and 
community

Pre-K/daycare building to get 
out of K-12 buildings (IE, MS, 
Beach and Shettler)

Keeping the elementary 
classroom sizes large 

0 mill increase

New Edgewood Elementary Prioritize teaching and learning 
spaces 

Updates to MS furniture



What proposed projects from the presentation do you oppose as a part 
of a proposed zero (0) mill increase bond proposition?

The location of the proposed 
ECC on the corner of sixth and 
beech is already high traffic. 
This is also a challenge where 
it is currently located now at 
the middle school. 

Are we building more space in 
our early childhood center to 
accommodate families that live 
in the district or are out of 
district. We should prioritize 
families who are in district and 
paying tax dollars towards this 
facility.

Does the new Edgewood have 
space for growth?

Spacing between FHS and 
Edgewood

Special Education Classrooms



What are the top three (3) to five (5) priority areas that the Board of 
Education should focus on with a zero (0) mill increase bond proposition, 
should it decide to proceed forward?

MS Library/Media Center 
Upgrades 

Keep the focus on teaching and 
learning  

Spec education bus drop off 
and pickup at all elementaries

Stadium bathrooms and 
pressbox

Creating practice space for 
what is lost

Prioritize function over form - 
is an H configuration really the 
most cost effective solution for 
a new building

Soccer bathrooms, teamrooms, 
bleachers, pressbox

To make sure that Edgewood 
and the HS look “great” in 
terms of curb appeal all on one 
campus



Paid for by Fruitport Community Schools, 3255 E. Pontaluna Rd., Fruitport, MI 49415


	Cover-Special
	Special Board Meeting Agenda_ December 9, 2024 at 6_00 p.m. (1)
	BAR - Meeting Minutes - Special Meeting
	Minutes of Special Board Meeting Agenda_ November 18, 2024 - 6_00 p.m.
	BAR - Meeting Minutes - Regular Meeting
	Minutes of Board Meeting_ November 18, 2024
	Community Forum Presentation_ December 9, 2024

